52 pages -

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TONY RANDALL WATTS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 74,776

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

DC

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BARBARA M. LINTHICUM PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR #271543

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case presents the novel issue of whether, under the state and federal constitutions, it is cruel and unusual to execute a person who is mentally retarded. Tony Watts is the defendant in this capital appeal. References to the record and transcripts will be by the usual letters "R" and "T."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the circuit court for Duval County on September 29, 1988 charged Tony Watts with one count of first degree murder, armed burglary with an assault, armed robbery, and armed sexual battery (R 313-316). Before trial, Watts filed several motions, several of which are relevant to this appeal:

1. Motion for Appointment of Expert to assist Counsel in the Preparation of the Defense of Insanity. (R 327-328). Granted (R 329).

2. Motion for Continuance and Suggestion of Incompetence to be Proceeded Against. (R 515-521). The motion to continue was granted, and Watts was determined competent to stand trial (R 522, 573).

3. Motion for Third Mental Health Professional to examine Defendant to Determine his competency to Proceed. (R 557-561). Denied (R 569).

Watts proceeded to trial before the honorable Page
Haddock. At the close of the state's case, the court granted
Watts' motion for a judgment of acquittal as to the armed
sexual battery count and reduced the charge to sexual battery
using physical force (T 813). The court denied Watts' motion
on the remaining charges. The jury returned guilty verdicts on
all of the counts as charged (R 653-656).

Watts then proceeded to the penalty phase of his trial, at which the jury heard additional evidence presented by both sides. Watts asked the court not to instruct on the aggravating factor that the murder was committed in an especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel manner (R 704-705),

but the court denied that request (R 706). The jury returned a recommendation of death by a vote of 7-5 (R 707).

The court followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Watts to death (R 726). In support of this sentence, it found the following aggravating factors:

1. Watts had previous convictions for an aggravated assault and an aggravated battery.
2. Watts committed the murder during the course of a sexual battery or while attempting to escape from it.
3. Watts committed the murder for financial gain.
4. Watts committed the murder in an especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel manner. (R 731-732).

In mitigation, the court found that Watts' low IQ somewhat lowered his judgmental abilities, and it also found his age of 22 as mitigation (R 732).

On the armed burglary and armed robbery convictions, the court sentenced Watts to consecutive life terms (R 727-728) with the provision he serve a minimum mandatory three years for using a firearm during the crimes. For the sexual battery conviction, the court ordered Watts to spend thirty years in prison consecutive to the other offenses. It also imposed a minimum mandatory sentence of three years for using a firearm during the the sexual battery (R 729).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Sometime after 9 a.m. on February 17, 1988 Glenda Jurado was returning home from an eight mile jog (T 515). She turned onto the street where she lived in Jacksonville and saw a man walking down the middle of the street. As she passed him, he turned and looked at her. Scared, she hurried home. Normally, she kept her house keys in her car while she ran, and as she reached inside the car to get them, the man came up behind her with a gun (T 515). He told her to be quiet and pushed her towards the house. He told her he had just gotten out of prison and needed fifty dollars to leave town (T 516).

Jurado's husband, Simon, answered the door, and Glenda told him the man had a gun and wanted money (T 516). She and her assailant came inside, and the Jurados gave him all the money they had, which was about fifteen dollars (T 520). The man demanded more money and said if they did not give it to him, he would kill Glenda (T 520).

Simon said they had a piggy bank in the study, and the three people went there, got the bank, and came back into the kitchen (T 521). They returned to the study to get a bag to put the change in, then the assailant started looking through the rest of the house. He told Simon to get undressed in the bathroom, and while he was doing that, the man told Glenda to also get undressed (T 523). She disrobed from the waist down (T 524), and he made her lay on the bed in the couple's bedroom where penetrated her with his finger (T 524). He tried to have sexual intercourse with her, but he had only a partial erection

(T 524). Simon, seeing what was happening, yelled at the attacker, and threw a chair at him (T 525). That knocked the man into the hallway where the two men struggled. Helpless, Glenda ran outside (T 526). She heard a shot and her husband scream (T 527). The assailant ran out of the house with the gun in his hand, and he fled down the street (T 527). Simon ran out of the house and collapsed on the front lawn. He had been shot in the mouth, the bullet severing an artery that went to his brain (T 782). He quickly lost consciousness and died a short time later (T 787).

Over the next several months, Ms. Jurado looked at several pictures of persons who may have killed her husband, but she never identified anyone until September (T 531) when she looked at a picture of Tony Watts (T 532). A neighbor who had seen the assailant flee also identified Watts (T 609). During the investigation that followed the shooting, the police found a baseball cap inside the house which had belonged to the attacker (T 564). They also lifted Watts' fingerprint from the inside front porch door of Jurado's house (T 571).

Tony Watts was twenty-two years old in 1988 (R 732). He was one of six children born to his mother Francis Watts

¹Watts' father lived only a few blocks from where the Jurado's lived (T 164).

(T 1141). Francis is schizophrenic, and during Watts' childhood she would walk around the house with a mask on her face believing that she had been cursed (T 1143). Watts' father was alcoholic, and when drunk he would beat his children and threaten them with a gun (T 1144). Once, when Watts was a child, he was kicked down some stairs, and he landed on the bottom, hitting his head on an iron pole (T 1145). No one helped him even though his head was bleeding and a knot had swollen up "as big as my hand." (T 1145).

Eventually Watts' father and mother split up. She went to a mental institution. Watts and his sister lived with his father and another woman he kept (T 1149), and the boy was beaten while he lived with these people (T 1149). Even after his mother was released and the family got back together, life was tough for Watts, his sister, and brothers. At times they had no food, and the children would go to a nearby cookie factory and eat the thrown away cookies. Sometimes they did this for "weeks and weeks." (T 1150). There were "plenty of Christmases" where they got nothing, and the children were in fact homeless (T 1150).

This bleak life changed for the worse when Watts saw his eighteen month old brother Everett hit by a car and killed.

It just seem like he came--he just gave up, you know. We were always was--didn't have too much to be happy about and then when Everett died it just tore us apart. The baby wasn't around. He used to keep us happy and stuff.

(T 1153).

Watts gave up, and his school work reflected his defeat. At best, he had an IQ between 65 (T 1053) and 71 (T 1161) which meant that he was mildly retarded (T 1065-1066). Although he was never treated for his retardation (T 1145), the schools he attended placed him in special programs for his disability (T 1060, 1071). Still, he did poorly in school, getting mostly D's. Not surprising, he was absent a great deal, and he repeated two grades before he dropped out of school in the seventh grade (T 1176).

As he grew older, he tried to be an adult. He had a job at a car wash, but he was fired because he could not show up for work on time (T 702). He got a girlfriend, but she was more of a mother to him (T 1137). She cooked and cleaned for him and took care of his needs because he could not do those things for himself (T 1137).

But he could get in trouble, and by 1988 he had prior convictions for aggravated assault and aggravated battery (T 1035-1036). In the aggravated assault, he had tried to sexually batter a woman, but he fled when a car drove by (T 1035). In the aggravated battery, he sexually assaulted a man (T 1035).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Watts' mental retardation permeates almost every issue raised in this brief. In the first issue, Watts argues the court erred when it failed to appoint the diagnostic and evaluation team from the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services to evaluate Watts' level of retardation. Section 916.11(1)(d) gives HRS the exclusive duty to determine a defendant's mental retardation, and the court erred by appointing two experts not connected with HRS to make that evaluation.

In his second issue, Watts also complains that the experts appointed by the court were unqualified to measure mental retardation. The court accepted the evaluation of a Dr. Fennell and rejected that of Dr. Carbonell, the defense expert who said Watts was incompetent to stand trial. A careful reading and comparison of these two expert's findings, however, reveals that they essentially agreed on their evaluation of Watts. Dr. Finnell differed from Dr. Carbonell only in that she said Watts was competent to stand trial if the questions asked were no more sophisticated than those that would be asked a second or third grade child. As is evident from reading the transcript, the court never kept the proceedings on that simple of a level. The court should, therefore, have found Watts incompetent to stand trial.

During jury selection, Watts asked for another lawyer, but the court gave short shrift to that request. That was error because the court should have asked Watts why he thought his lawyer was not adequately representing him, and it should have also given him the opportunity to represent himself.

At the start of the state's closing argument, the state told the jury that Glenda Jurado's life would never be the same. That comment unfairly played to the juror's natural sympathies for Mrs. Jurado. It caused them to disregard their obligation to view the evidence dispassionately and find Watts guilty simply because of the suffering caused this victim.

At sentencing, the court found this murder to have been committed in an especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel manner. It was not. This was a simple shooting that occurred during a struggle. It has none of the additional indicia that separate especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel murders from the norm of capital felonies.

Following the previous argument, Watts argues that when his case is compared with other cases in which the defendant was mentally retarded, he should not be sentenced to death.

Finally, Watts argues that under the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 17 of the Florida Constitution, this court should not approve the execution of Watts. Florida has demonstrated that it does not believe that mentally retarded persons should be executed, and there is no retributive purpose served when the state executes the mentally retarded.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO APPOINT THE DIAGNOSTIC AND EVALUATION TEAM OF THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES TO EXAMINE WATTS WHEN THE ISSUE OF HIS MENTAL RETARDATION HAD BEEN RAISED IN VIOLATION OF HIS FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

Throughout this trial, the central issue has been Tony Watts mental condition, specifically his mental retardation. Defense counsel repeatedly raised this issue. In his Motion for Appointment of Expert to Assist Counsel in the Preparation of the Defense of Insanity, counsel said, "Defendant's school records indicate psychological problems and an IQ in the mentally handicapped range. He is almost totally illiterate." (R 327). In his Motion for Third Mental Health Professional to Examine Defendant to determine his competency to Proceed" (R 557-561) counsel specifically requested an expert in mental retardation because Watts' mental state indicates he was retarded. Also, during the competency hearing, Dr. Carbonell, the defense expert, unequivocally said Watts was mentally retarded (T 145). Dr. Barnard, one of the court appointed experts said Watts was "borderline retarded." (T 204), and Dr. Fennell, the other court appointed expert, agreed that Watts functioned "at the borderline in terms of his intellectual ability (T 239). Despite the abundance of evidence that Watts may have been mentally retarded, the court did not appoint the Diagnostic and Evaluation Team from the Department of Health

and Rehabilitative Services as required by §916.11(1)(d) Fla. Stats. (1988) Failure to do so was reversible error. THE REQUIREMENTS OF §916.11(1)(d)

That section provides:

(d) If a defendant's suspected mental condition is mental retardation, the court shall appoint the diagnosis and evaluation team of the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services to examine the defendant and determine whether he meets the definition of 'retardation' in section 393.063 and, if so, whether he is competent to stand trial.

The significant portion of this statute denies the court any discretion in appointing the HRS team. If mental retardation is suspected the court shall appoint the diagnosis and evaluation team. In another context, this court said that a rule of Criminal Procedure which said the court "shall instruct on penalties" meant exactly that. Shall means shall.

Tascano v. State, 393 So.2d 545 (Fla. 1981). Moreover, an appellate court could not say that failure to instruct on the penalties was harmless error. Murray v. State, 403 So.2d 417,418 (Fla. 1981). Similarly here, the clear meaning of this section requires the court to appoint the HRS team when it suspects a defendant is mentally retarded. It has no discretion, and failure to do so cannot be harmless error.

Nor can the experts who examined Watts be somehow considered the functional equivalent of the diagnostic and evaluation team. By enacting §916.11(1)(d) the legislature distinguished experts qualified to decide mental retardation from those experts who could discover other mental

deficiencies. Subsection 916.11(1)(a) requires HRS to provide the court with a list of approved mental health professionals. That provision could be thought to include experts on mental retardation except that subsection (1)(d) specifically gives to HRS the duty to evaluate mental retardation. The legislature, thus, has recognized a distinction between mental retardation and other mental illnesses. It made this distinction because mental health professionals generally lack the expertise to deal with the subtle and pervasive problems of retarded defendants. See, Ellis and Luckasson, "Mentally Retarded Criminal Defendants," 1985 The George Washington Law Review 414, 427-432, 485-486. Only the diagnostic and evaluation team possesses the uniform, in-depth sensitivity to the peculiarities of the mentally retarded. Thus, the legislature has pre-empted other mental health professionals from determining mental retardation.

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE

As mentioned earlier, Watts' retardation was raised by way of a motion to determine his competency to stand trial as well as to appoint experts to evaluate his retardation. The only

²For example, a psychiatrist may have asked a retarded defendant if he understood what it meant to "waive your rights," and the defendant may have immediately responded yes. But unless the expert realized the limited communication skills and lack of knowledge mentally retarded persons uniformly have, he may not have asked him to explain what it meant to "waive your rights." Had he done so, the defendant may have "waved" his arm.

question left was the means to measure his intellectual and adaptive functioning. §916.11 requires that the diagnostic and evaluation team make that determination, but instead of following the statute, the court appointed a psychiatrist and psychologist to examine Watts.

\$916.11(1)(d) places the burden upon the court to appoint the diagnostic and evaluation team when the court "suspects" a defendant is mentally retarded. That section provides that the court "shall" appoint the HRS unit. It does not say, "upon motion of the defendant" or "at the discretion of the court." Instead it uses the strongest language possible to put the court on notice that it has the independent responsibility to appoint the diagnostic and evaluation team. Watts' failure to ask the court to appoint that team did not relieve it of its duty to do so.

In <u>Pate v. Robinson</u>, 383 U.S. 375, 384, 86 S.Ct. 836, 15 L.Ed.2d 815 (1966), the court said that a defendant could not waive his right to a competency hearing. This court in <u>Lane v. State</u>, 388 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 1980) also emphasized that a defendant's intentional acts to become incompetent cannot avoid the court's independent duty to decide his competency. Thus, a defendant cannot waive the method to evaluate his competency. Failure to follow the the requirements of §916.11(1)(d), which Florida has established to "jealously guard" Watts' right to a fair trial, <u>Drope v. Missouri</u>, 420 U.S. 162, 172-173, 95 S.Ct. 896, 43 L.Ed.2d 103 (1975) denies him that right. The court erred by not appointing the diagnostic and evaluation team.

ISSUE II

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING WATTS COMPETENT TO BE TRIED IN VIOLATION OF HIS FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

Watts asked the court to determine his competency to stand trial, and the court appointed two experts, Drs. Barnard and Fennell to examine him (R 527). Watts also had a Dr. Carbonell examine him. Dr. Barnard, a psychiatrist, spent two hours with Watts and said he could be tried (T 203). Dr. Fennell, a clinical psychologist specializing in clinical neuropsychology, examined Watts for eight hours, and she said gave a qualified opinion that he was competent to stand trial (T 232). Dr. Carbonell, also a clinical psychologist, said Watts was incompetent (T 138). The court rejected Dr. Carbonell's conclusion, and found Watts had the present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding:

I will be very frank with you I prefer the testimony of medical doctors over psychologist in terms of my reliance and I have expressed that opinion before and haven't changed it yet, and I respect Dr. Barnard's credentials in his being a psychiatrist and a medical doctor. I respect his credentials highly but I find Dr. Fennell's analysis of the situation to be the most persuasive of that I have heard however, the combination of Dr. Barnard and Dr. Fennell would certainly persuade me that Mr. Watts is competent to stand trial and I do so find.

(T 253-254). The court erred, however, in making this determination.

The court's first error is that it gave far more credence to Dr. Barnard's short examination of Watts than it deserved. His testimony should have been more suspect because he was a psychiatrist. Generally, psychiatrists do not have the specialized training required to properly diagnose and evaluate persons who may be retarded, and it has been suggested that psychiatrists limit their expertise to not include mental retardation. In this case, there is no evidence Barnard has had any special training regarding mental retardation. Psychiatrists are more at home with crazy people than dumb ones and Barnard's testimony reflects that perspective when he said "There was no indication [Watts] was not in contact with reality." (T 203) Dr. Barnard's predilection to want to see Watts in terms of a mental illness rather than mental retardation became very evident during the sentencing phase of the trial.

A. Okay, I did not see any indication that he was disoriented or not aware of what he was doing, that he was able to assess his relationship with the victims and to carry out conversation that made sense, that there was no break with reality, that one might see with a serious mental disorder in which the person was operating under delusions or having hallucinations or something like that at the time. (T 1169)

Over defense objection (T 1178) Dr. Barnard also said at the sentencing hearing that Watts was not insane (T 1179).

³Ellis and Luckasson, supra., 484-485.

Dr. Barnard, despite his credentials and great familiarity by this court, was simply not tuned to the subtle problems Watts' mental retardation presented. 4

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