IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DI WHITE

JUN 20 1990

TONY RANDALL WATTS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. DELLE COURTE C

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Watts has raised seven issues on appeal, none of which warrant relief.

First, Watts complains that the "wrong" mental health experts examined him. Watts did not raise or preserve this issue below and, in fact, induced any error by his own motion. He is not entitled to an appeal.

Second, Watts asks this Court to reweigh the expert testimony in the record and substitute its own competency determination for that of the trial judge. This is not a proper basis for an appeal.

Third, Watts contends he did not receive a Faretta hearing although he never asked to represent himself and he would not have been able to do so (given his IQ) in any event.

Fourth, any "error" relating to the prosecutor's arguments was harmless. Of course, Watts was also on trial for non-capital crimes relevant to Mrs. Jurado for which his argument was proper.

The death penalty was properly and proportionately imposed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF ON HIS "HRS" ARGUMENT GIVEN HIS FAILURE TO PRESERVE THIS ISSUE OR TO ESTABLISH ERROR OR PREJUDICE

The Appellant failed to preserve this issue by appropriate objection or argument in the lower court and cannot, therefore, raise it on appeal. Jacobs v. Wainwright, 450 So.2d 200 (Fla. 1984); White v. State, 446 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 1984); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 1982); Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978). Aware of his predicament, Watts tries to argue that he "did not have to" preserve the issue under Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375 (1966); Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162 (1975), and Lane v. State, 388 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 1980). None of these cases stand for that proposition.

In Lane, the issue was the need for a competency evaluation and hearing when the defendant "made himself incompetent by not taking medicine. The issues of "who" should perform the evaluation or the impact of his IQ of "56" were not discussed, nor was the issue of "preservation". Pate and Drope create an affirmative duty of inquiry when the trial court is confronted with an incompetent litigant, but the issue of "who" is, again, not discussed. Nothing in Pate or Drope addresses the issue of preservation as it relates to the appointment of particular doctors. 2

 $^{^2}$ We would also submit that Watts, by requesting experts under Rule 3.210 rather than the statute and then by hiring Dr. Carbonell as his expert of choice, induced error by the court.

Therefore, Watts is not entitled to appeal this issue.

Without waiving this defense, we would nevertheless note that Watts has not shown any basis for reversal.

Mr. Watts failed to establish either retardation or incompetence to stand trial (the terms are not synonymous) in the lower court. Now, on appeal, he has raised the "HRS" issue in a bald attempt at winning another roll of the dice, to see if he can avoid prosecution by lowering his scores.

There is ample record support for this theory. First, Watts has been very cautious about possibly hurting his defense while dealing with his doctors, especially Dr. Barnard. Second, Watts defied medical science by getting a lower IQ score (of 65) despite being tested much too soon after his first test (scored at 71). This simply does not happen. Third, now that Watts knows he can be convicted, future malingering may be presumed. Mims v. United States, 375 F.2d 135 (5th Cir. 1967); United States v. Mota, 598 F.2d 995 (5th Cir. 1979); United States v. Makris, 535 F.2d 899 (5th Cir. 1976).

While this Honorable Court cannot deny relief just on the prospect of future malingering or misconduct, Lane v. State, supra, it is also true that the court cannot grant relief on speculation that Watts might "fail better" next time.

Watts' only credible IQ score was the 71 recorded by Drs. Fennel and Barnard. 3 To establish "retardation" under the

³ Aside from the obvious bias of Dr. Carbonell, we note that all facts (and all inferences therefrom) must be taken in favor of the State. Shapiro v. State, 390 So.2d 344 (Fla. 1980). Thus, Watts' operative IQ is 71, not 65.

operative statute, §393.063(41), Fla.Stat., Watts would have to show that "71" was more than two standard deviations from the mean score on an HRS approved test (see Fla. HRS Rules 10F-3.11, 3.12), and an appropriate "adaptive behavior" score. Since Watts did not raise the issue of HRS testing sub judice, he has no record basis on which to establish either factor.

Thus, even if §916.11(1)(d), Fla.Stat., was violated, Watts cannot show that "but for" this violation he would not have been tried, convicted or sentenced. In fact, the presumption is that an HRS survey would have produced the same results as those obtained by Dr. Barnard, Dr. Fennel, and, apparently, Dr. Miller (since the defense kept his report secret).

Although Watts lacks standing to appeal this issue, it is clear that any error was harmless.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN WEIGHING THE EVIDENCE REGARDING THE APPELLANT'S COMPETENCE

Mr. Watts' second point on appeal is nothing more than a request for this Court to reweigh the evidence surrounding the issue of competence and then substitute its own judgment for that of the trial court. As this Honorable Court has repeatedly reminded defense counsel, appellate courts do not weigh evidence, nor do they resolve issues such as credibility. Tibbs v. State, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981); Heiney v. State, 447 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1984); Toole v. State, 472 So.2d 1174 (Fla. 1985).

Neutral and detached experts, including a psychiatrist, concluded that Watts was in the borderline range of intelligence,

was not "retarded" and was competent to stand trial. A defense hireling (notorious for her anti-death penalty bias) reported that Watts was mentally retarded and incompetent.

Judge Haddock was not bound by the testimony of any particular expert, Thompson v. State, 14 F.L.W. 527 (Fla. 1989); Bertolotti v. Dugger, 883 F.2d 1503 (11th Cir. 1989), but rather, was free to resolve this conflict on the basis of credibility and the known facts. His decision to accept the testimony of Drs. Fennel and Barnard was not so arbitrary or irrational as to compel reversal. Indeed, given the totality of the case, Judge Haddock was correct in accepting those expert opinions which most closely fit with the known facts. Bundy v. Dugger, 850 F.2d 1402 (11th Cir. 1989).

Dr. Carbonell was proven to have done incomplete research, to have used the wrong tests and to have been very subjective in her evaluations. These facts, taken in light of her "hired gun" reputation, clearly cast doubt on her credibility as a witness.

It is given that psychology is an extremely inexact discipline which lacks the clear and verifiable standards of legitimate scientific disciplines. See Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923), cited in Bundy v. State, 471 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1985) (regarding scientific evidence and admissibility). 5

Pursuant to Carter v. State, 14 F.L.W. 525 (Fla. 1989), the trial judge, as finder of fact in a competency proceeding, is not subject to reversal absent an abuse of discretion.

⁵ Frye holds that expert testimony is admissible only if based upon well recognized and accepted scientific principles. Psychology is noted for its lack of and ever-changing principles. In fact, the DSM III R, relied upon by Carbonell in her analysis, specifically states it is not relevant to legal determinations. (See "Cautionary Statement" at XXVI).

Dr. Fennel's testimony illustrated just how unreliable and manipulable this pseudo-scientific evidence can be. Under the circumstances, Judge Haddock should not be reversed for taking the word of Drs. Barnard and Fennel.

Relief should be denied.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT "FAIL" TO ADVISE THE APPELLATE OF HIS FARETTA RIGHTS

Mr. Watts briefly complained about the number of times he was visited by counsel and requested new counsel during voir dire. After conferring with counsel, Watts' complaint was apparently satisfied (R 398) and no further court action was requested or required.

The Appellant now contends that the court was required to advise him of the option of self-representation recognized in Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). The problem with this allegation is that Watts never asked - directly or indirectly - to act as his own attorney.

In Hardwick v. State, 521 So.2d 1071, 1074 (Fla. 1988), this Court held:

We note that the courts have long required that a request for self representation be stated unequivocally. Chapman v. United States, 553 F.2d 886 (5th Cir. 1977), see Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835-836, 95 S.Ct. at 2541.

Since Watts never had any desire to act as his own lawyer, the entire "Faretta" issue seems somewhat foolish. Apparently, Watts, seeking a triumph of form over substance, wants a new trial because the trial court "failed" to provide some talismanic

hearing to verify that he did not want to represent himself. This argument would grossly overextend the scope of **Nelson v.**State, 274 So.2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974), by requiring hearings when even the defendant does not want them.

In Bundy v. Dugger, 850 F.2d 1402 (11th Cir. 1989), the court noted that the failure to strictly comply with the requirements of a "Faretta" hearing may be harmless error depending upon the facts of the case. Even if, by some arcane extension of Nelson, Judge Haddock's first response should have been to conduct a Faretta hearing, we submit that any error was harmless because:

- (1) The record shows that counsel and Mr. Watts spoke and resolved their misunderstanding. No subsequent demands for new counsel were made. (R 398).
- (2) Although competent for trial, Watts' low IQ and his illiteracy would clearly have precluded self-representation even if a Faretta hearing had been held.
- (3) Nelson requires a "reasonable inquiry", not a formal trial. Mr. Watts clearly set forth his precise complaint and enabled Judge Haddock to respond. Thus, despite the absence of a formal hearing, Nelson seems to have been satisfied.

Mr. Watts is not entitled to relief.

Although trial had not formally commenced, we question nonetheless the timeliness of Watts' mid-voir dire request for new counsel.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN OVERRULING THE DEFENDANT'S OBJECTION TO THE PROSECUTOR'S GUILT PHASE ARGUMENTS

The Appellant confesses that the State's case was strong, if not overwhelming, against him. The Appellant must concede that the jury saw and heard the live testimony of Mrs. Jurado. The Appellant has not alleged that the jurors were twelve "lumps of lead" who were totally unaffected by the trial. Thus, it utterly defies logic for Watts to suggest that his conviction was based on nothing more than the phrase "Glenda Jurado's life will never be the same". We submit that the jury was fully capable of drawing that conclusion on its own. Thus, even if the comment was improper, there is no reasonable probability that the alleged error provoked the verdict. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

The Appellant's reference to Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1983), is welcomed because it clearly supports the State's position. In Johnson, an otherwise acceptable closing argument was tainted by a single comment about "one less person" being at the Thanksgiving table at the victim's home. In finding harmless error, this Court held that one brief, improper comment would not provoke reversal when it did not influence the jury. See Darden v. State, 329 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1976). Since Watts concedes this was not a "close" case, he must lose just as Johnson did.

The defendant, of course, was charged with other, non-capital crimes for which a comment on the non-capital victim (Mrs. Jurado) would not necessarily be improper. Booth v.

Maryland, 482 U.S. 496 (1987) [at n.12]. The prosecutor's argument makes separate reference to the murder victim (Mr. Jurado) and the "other" victim, Mrs. Jurado. As to Mrs. Jurado, the comments were not inappropriate (no matter what various interpretations of the remark were argued to the trial judge). If we accept Watts' proposition that jurors indulge in the arcane parsing of words (as lawyers do), then clearly the jury could have just as reasonably have presumed that Mrs. Jurado's "life changed" due to the rape and robbery.

In the absence of any hint that the prosecutor's comment was the deciding factor at trial, the conviction should not be reversed.

POINT V

THE MURDER WAS CORRECTLY DEEMED TO BE HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS AND CRUEL

The sentencer found that the murder of Simon Jurado was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. In support of this finding, the trial judge noted that Jurado suffered the incredible mental anguish of watching Watts sexually batter Glenda Jurado. The judge, who should be affirmed if correct for any reason, could also have relied upon the slow, lingering and painful death suffered by Mr. Jurado as he staggered about, spitting up blood, trying to get help, for some ten agonizing minutes.

Watts seeks to trivialize this murder by contending that watching one's wife being raped is not as bad as anticipating one's own death. (Brief at pg. 33). That is Watts' personal

opinion and it certainly does not express normal human values. Perhaps Watts would care more about himself, but Mr. Jurado gave his life to save Glenda, whom he loved.

In Johnson v. State, 393 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1981), the victim, Woodrow Moulton, opened fire on a defendant who was robbing Moulton's store. When Moulton ran out of bullets, Johnson shot him. The trial court found that this execution style slaying was heinous, atrocious and cruel, noting that Mr. Moulton was lawfully defending his property.

Assuming human life is as worthy of protection as property, Simon Jurado's attempt to save his wife would easily surpass Johnson in justifying a finding of "H.A.C."

Overlooked, but clearly available from the record, is the additional factor of the slow, lingering death suffered by Simon. The victim was spitting up blood. The victim was obviously aware of impending death. The victim tried to use a phone. The victim staggered outside. A tracheotomy was attempted (which would have been painful).

Slow, bleeding deaths qualify under the H.A.C. standard even where the actual "killing" resulted from just a single shot or stab wound. Blanco v. State, 452 So.2d 520 (Fla. ____); Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038 (Fla. ____); Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982); Hardwick v. State, 457 So.2d 1012 (Fla. 1984); Jackson v. State, 522 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1988).

The trial judge, as the only sentencer, weighed this evidence and found "H.A.C." The evidence cannot be reweighed on

appeal. Tibbs, supra. Since the evidence is legally sufficient under the caselaw, the finding should be affirmed.

POINT VI

THE DEATH PENALTY IS PROPER IN THIS CASE

Mr. Watts contends that the death penalty is not justified in this case. We disagree.

Four valid aggravating factors are present:

- (1) Watts had prior convictions for aggravated assault and aggravated battery.
- (2) Watts committed this murder during a sexual battery or an escape from one.
- (3) Watts committed the murder for financial gain.
- (4) The murder was heinous, atrocious and cruel.

The court considered Watts' age (22), and his borderline (not retarded) IQ as mitigating, but still sentenced Watts to death in keeping with the recommendation of the jury.

Watts contends that his sentence is disproportionate.

In Cochran v. State, 547 So.2d 928 (Fla. 1989), the jury returned a life recommendation, thus binding the judge with adherence to Tedder. Cochran was only 18, his "IQ" was 70, he could not hold the simplest job due to emotional problems, and family and police officers testified in mitigation.

⁷ "H.A.C." does not require the defendant to "enjoy" the torture or pain felt by the victim so the arguments regarding Watts' low intellect and lack of appreciation are meritless. Watts knew he had Mr. Jurado at gunpoint as he raped Mrs. Jurado. Similarly, the fact that Watts did not shoot Mrs. Jurado is irrelevant. Johnson v. State, supra. Of course, Watts was hit with a chair and was fighting with Simon when Glenda fled, so he could not have shot her even if he wanted to.

In Brown v. State, 526 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1988), again, the jury recommended life in the face of substantial mitigation and a low IQ.

In Livingston v. State, 13 F.L.W. 187 (Fla. 1988), this Court engaged in resentencing after striking one of two aggravating factors. That case has been on rehearing for over a year and is not even a final decision.

In Kight v. State, 512 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1987), this Court held that a mere low IQ and tough childhood could be outweighed by statutory aggravating factors. Citing to Mills v. State, 462 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 1985), this Court held that a low "IQ" is not necessarily mitigating, citing Lara v. State, 464 So.2d 1173 (Fla. 1985), the court rejected the tough childhood excuse.

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